OUTLAWS AND REBELLION IN FEUDAL ENGLAND

P

Paul MITCHENER

A WORLD OF ADVENTURE FOR CORE SYSTEM

This adventure was made awesome thanks to our Patreon patrons at patreon.com/evilhat—thanks folks! INSIDERS ΚT

Ken Ditto

Kris Herzog

Kurt Blanco

Linda Larsson

Malc Arnold

MAINGLIFT Francois

LilFluff

Amanda Rönne Idänge Amelia Aronsohn Andrew Turbott Andy Arminio Arlo B Evans brian allred C.K. Lee Charles Albrecht Chris Angelini Chris Flinse Chris Jahn Christopher Cassino

D.C. Upton Daniel Gutiérrez Martínez David Dorward David Hayes Declan Feenev Demian Buckle Denise Atwood Don Arnold Dustin Evermore Dylan Greene Charles Charles Evans

Christopher Hatty

Christopher Vollick

Edward MacGregor Fric Nething Frank Frédéri POCHARD Gavran George Harnish Graham Wills Griffin Mitchell Hoosawasa Howard M Thompson l Hunter J Quincy Sperber

lamie Smith Jan Heitger Jason Cotton Jeremy Tidwell Joakim Andersson loe Trzos John Rogers John Rudd Jon-Pierre Gentil Ioshua Forisha loshua Lutz Justin Evans

Jan Oetien

lared Hunt

Jason Bean

Jason Pasch

Jason Pennev

lason Weaver

lavna Pavlin

Jeff Craig

leff Pitrman

leff Vincent

Jeffrey Bornan

Jeffrey Collyer

lens Alfke

Jere Austin

IF Paradis

lim Hart

Joanna

John

John

loe Mason

John Revnon

John Helmuth

John Lambert

John Portley

John T

John Taber

John Tobin

Ion Smeikal

Jonathan Finke

Joseph Formoso

Inshua Reubens

Josh Salvers

luan Trillo

Ionathan

lose A

Joseph

John Fiala

John Lake

lim Nicholson

Jeremiah McCov

leff Xilon

Jeff M

larrett

Janet Oblinger

ial wu

ADVENTURERS

Kesh KP lennifer Steinhurst Kvle Landon Jeremv Hamaker laura Loren Johannes Onnermann Maia S Marcus John William McDonald Jonathan Korman Ionathan Perrine Michael Juan Francisco Gutierrez

Nykki Boersma Iulia Julianna Backer Kaarchin Karl Thieholt Katherine Mallov Katie Raker Katie Berger Tremaine Keith R. Potempa Keith Stanley Kevin L. Nault Kevin Lindgren Kevin McDermott Kevin Pavne Kielo Maia Klaas Bork Krzysztof Chyla Kym Malycha Lester Ward Liam Martinez Lore Graham In and Nick Daly Luca Agosto Marc Kevin Hall Marcel Lotz Marcel Wittram Mark Chu-Carroll Mark Tygart Markus Haberstock Markus Sauerhrev Martin Deppe Martin Terrier Marty Gentillor Matt Hourk Matt Landis Matt Larson Matthew J. Hanson Max Kaehn Michael Bradford Michael Brewer Michael Brown Michael D. Ranalli Ir Michael Feldhusen Michael Friese

Russell Hav Michael Honcroft Michael Riabov Michael Thompson Mike Ferdinando Mike Vermont Mirko Froeblich Mo Mook Nat Nat Nathan Hare Nicholas Honkins Nicholas Pilon Nick Nick Reale Nicola Urbinati Nicolas Decomble Nikkelitous Nos Doughty Olav Müller Olivier Nisole Owen Thomnson paolo castelli . Paolo lose (ruz Patrice Hédé Patrice Mermoud Patrick Chapman Patrick Ewing Patrick McElfresh Paul Paul Arezina Paul Maanen Paul Olson Paul Rivers Pawel Ngei Pete Curry Peter Bingham Peter Kahle Phil Groff Philippe Marichal Philippe Saner Phillin lames Phillip Webb Pint Wakefield Piner Thunstrom Porter R Roy , Rachael Hixon

Matt Anderson Michael Bowman Mike C Mitchell Evans Morgan Ellis Nicolas Marianovic Philippe Herve Remy Sanchez Richard Bellingham rlancel4

Rhel

Dick

Rvan Singer Sarah Vakos Scott Veselv Sean M. Dunstan Salana A'Pourka Stephen Rider The Catholic Geeks The Roach Timothy Carroll Tristan Smith Troy Ray vargr1

Will Goring

Ralf Wagner

Randall Wright

Raun Sedlock

Reherca Harhison

William J. White William Lee 7ach Zach H. **Zach Hunt**

Steve Radahaugh Steven Code Steven D Warble Steven des lardins Steven K Watkins Steven Markley Stu Adams Stuart Dollar Susanna Tallhern Svend Andersen Sławomir Wrzesie tcoustic Teppo Pennanen Teresa () Tevel Drinkwater The Older Avocado The Vampires of San Francisco Thierry De Gagné Thomas Thomas Thomas Balls-Thies Thomas Maund Thomas Rvan Tim Davis Timothy Masamitsu Timothy Miller Todd Estabrook Todd Willey Tom Lomme Tony Ewing TR Merchen Travis Stodter Tsht Ty Volpo Tyson Monadle Tyson Streich Urs Blumentritt Veronica Hamilton Victor Allen Ville Lavonius Vladimir Filinovi Volker Mantel waelcyrge William Hutton William Johnson William McDuff Zeb Walker

A Darker Tale Adam Gutschenritter Adam Rinehart Adrian Arias-Palomo Adrian Chalunnka A I Real Al Rillings Alan Phillips Alan Timothy Rogers Alan Twigg Aleiandro Alessandro Gagliardi Alexander Gräfe Alloved Amanda Valentine Amazing Rando Anders Jonsson Andrew Andrew Dacev Andrew Grant Andrew Horn Anthony Damiani Arthur Lace Ask Charly Leetham Backwards of conduit, Sparkle Barac Wilev Rerra Ren Beni . Benjamin Cush Reniamin Welke Riörn Steffen Ro Madsen Roh Hiestand Rrandon Wiley **Brandt Biornsen** Brent Ritch Brett Taylor Brian Rrian Colin Rrian Paul Rrian S Holt Brook Freeman Rruce Rrvan Rotz , Brvan Brake , Brvan Gillispie Bryce Perry Rurnin(hrome Carlos Martín Cerity

Chip Dunning Chris King (hris Little Chris Newton Chris Nolen Christian Christian Fhel Christoph Thill Christopher Allen Christopher Dennis Christopher Mason Christopher W. Dolunt Churk Dee Clemens Schmitz (lyde Clark Colin Matter Craig Maloney Craig Mason Creative Play and Podrast Network Curt Mever Curtis Hav Dain Damon Richard Dani Blears Daniel Chanman Daniel Ellingsen Lund Daniel Gallant Daniel Kraemer Daniel Lev Daniel Markwig Daniel Taylor Darin Henley Dave Ioria David Rellinger David Goodwin David Maple David Morfin David Starner David Thornley , Davide Orlandi Delos W Dennis Groome Dennis Mallov Derek Hiemforth Deus Ex Logica Dillard Dirk Methner Doug Blakeslee Doug Rolden

Douglas Molineu Dr. Mitch Duane Cathev Duncan Dylan Green Fhenezer Arvinenius Edward Sturges Ehedei Firch Mascariatu Flizabeth Creenan Elsa S. Henry Enrique Esturillo Cano eric Frik Indersen Frnie Sawver Fabrice Breau FeITK Fide Florian Greß Frank Beaver Free Xenon gamedave Garrett Garrett Iones Genevieve Geoff Geoffrey Walter Gian Domenico Facchini Glynn Stewart Grant Greg Conant Greg Matvola Gregg Workman Gregory Adams Guillermo Calvo Gustavo Campanelli Haakon Thunestvedt Hal J Neat Heather herkman@cfl rr.com Herman Duvker Hourousha Mokuiin lan Charlton Irene Strauss Ivan Beglev lack Gulick James Hoag James Husum lames Marz James Mendez Hodes lames Pachero lames Winfield

Marius Mark Marty Chodorek Matt and

lamie Wheeler

My Humble Assault myrandomscribblings Pablo Martínez Merino Peter James Burrzyk

Reherca Hubbard Renzo Crisnieri Richard Greene Rick LaRue Riggah Roh Knon Rob Mevers Robb Neumann Robert Rersch Robert Carnel Rohert Huss Robert Lally Robert Slaughter Ron Müller Ruhen Smith-Zemnel Rvan Junk Rvusui Sarah Williams Schubarca Scot Ryder Scott Acker Scott Reattie Scott Millward Scott Puckett Scott Vachalek Scott Velez Sean O'Dell Sean Smith Sean Walsh Sean West Money Serge Beaumont Seth Clavton Seth Hartley Shervyn von Hoerl Shijuro Shoshana Kessork Simon Brunning Simon White Stefan Feltmann Stefano Monachesi Stenhan Stenhanie Brvant Stephen Figgins Stephen Fleetwood Stenhen Waugh Steve Discont Steve Kuner

(Mortaine)



JONATHAN WYKE

INTERIOR & COVER ARTWORK

LAYOUT **FRED HICKS**

ART DIRECTION **FRED HICKS**

PROJECT MANAGEMENT **SEAN NITTNER**

EDITING **JOSHUA YEARSLEY**

DEVELOPMENT **ROB DONOGHUE & ED TURNER**

WRITING & ADVENTURE DESIGN **PAUL MITCHENER**



WOLF'S HEAD





An Evil Hat Productions Publication www.evilhat.com • feedback@evilhat.com @EvilHatOfficial on Twitter facebook.com/EvilHatProductions

Wolf's Head

Copyright ©2019 Evil Hat Productions, LLC and Paul Mitchener. All rights reserved.

First published in 2019 by Evil Hat Productions, LLC. 10125 Colesville Rd #318, Silver Spring, MD 20901.

Evil Hat Productions and the Evil Hat and Fate logos are trademarks owned by Evil Hat Productions, LLC. All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior express permission of the publisher.

That said, if you're doing it for personal use, knock yourself out. That's not only allowed, we encourage you to do it.

For those working at a copy shop and not at all sure if this means the person standing at your counter can make copies of this thing, they can. This is "express permission." Carry on.

This is a game where people make up stories about wonderful, terrible, impossible, glorious things. All the characters and events portrayed in this work are fictional. Any resemblance to real people, winners of archery contests, oppressive nobles, eldritch spirits of the forest, castles owned by dodgy sorcerers, or heroic outlaws fighting for justice is purely coincidental, but kinda hilarious.

Thanks go to the playtesters of Wolf's Head: Nigel Clarke, Jag Goroya, Steve Hatherley, j0rdi, Pebsie, Richard Lock, and John Ruddy.

CONTENTS

Outlaws in Norman England	2
Caput Lupinum	
The Outlaw Story	
The Feudal Order	
Characters6	
Aspects	
Skills and Languages	
Stunts	
Advancement	
New Mechanics	
Treasure	
Threat	
Magic and Mysticism	_
The Old Gods14	
Mortal Sorcerers	
The Setting	
The New Forest	
Villages	9
Towns)
Castles2	
Abbeys	
People23	
Adventures	_
The Bishop's Treasure	
Further Adventure Seeds	
All the King's Men (Final Adventure)	
Sample Player Characters	
Beatrice Ashe40 Simon Grave	
Rosamund Le Tellier	
Thomas Willoughby	



OUTLAWS IN NORMAN ENGLAND

Caput Lupinum

"I'll fight them. I don't expect to win, but someone's got to stand up and fight for justice and a fairer life. And when I'm finally beaten, I won't go down alone, and I will be an example to others."

- Rosamund Le Tellier, disgraced noble

Feudal England is a cruel and unfair place. The commoners labour all their lives for the benefit of knights and lords to feast and fight. Most commoners aren't even allowed to leave the land allotted to them. Whenever there's war, another punitive tax comes along, and whole villages are burned for not paying.

But not you. You've had enough, and snapped, defying the local lord. You're now an outlaw—a wolf's head—in the name of the law, and labelled a bandit or worse, but you're not alone. There are others who think like you, and you're more than just bandits. You're rebels, fighting for the common people, doing what you can to help them and spitting in the eyes of the nobility while you're at it.

Let his be a wolf's head is the sentence passed upon an outlaw. A wolf's head has no rights, and anyone may legally harm them. They are a pariah, a lone wolf, dangerous, and a beast rather than a person, who decent people must defend themselves against. A wolf's head is unable to find honest work, and crime is a means of survival. It is forbidden by law to give a wolf's head shelter, food, or any other means of support.

Some wolf's heads have earned their sentences and indeed prey on ordinary people like vicious wolves. But your characters are different. They're no ordinary outlaws, but warriors fighting against an unjust authority that oppresses the people. Of course, this makes them even worse than common outlaws to the powers that be.

You may notice some spellings that look off in this book. Well, that's just British English—don't panic.

The Outlaw Story

"Justice? Don't make me laugh. When I was in the service of the noble swine, I was given orders to burn down a village and kill everyone who came running out. That's what the nobles think justice is."

— Thomas Willoughby, former soldier

In stories portraying medieval outlaws, they're typically romanticised, victims of injustice. Some are peasants, and some nobles who have lost their lands. Often in England such nobles are part of the Saxon nobility displaced by the Normans.

Some outlaw tales have happy endings, as the wicked noble responsible for an outlaw's fate meets messy justice, and the outlaw re-enters ordinary society. A noble might have their lands returned to them. Sometimes there is a new king, who makes everything right. Other outlaw tales have tragic endings, as an outlaw band has no chance of matching and overwhelming the forces of the legitimate, if cruel and unjust, authorities.

In *Wolf's Head* we go further. Our outlaws are rebels. It is not just that a local lord or even king is unjust—to our outlaws, the whole feudal system is rotten.

Our outlaws quite likely have anachronistic ideas—and ideals—about equality and freedom, as well as a drive for vengeance against unjust lords and for relieving the burden on poor, overtaxed peasants. Contemporary outlaw tales often highlight the rebellious hero, and ours are just the same.

Outlaws don't have to fit into society or into the moulds society has ready for them. There's a freedom in being a wolf's head. There is no difference between former commoner and former noble outlaws, no distinctions of noble ranks, none between freemen and serfs. Gender roles in Norman England are quite rigid, but these do not apply to outlaws. The exact form of Christianity represented by the Church is the only sanctioned religion in England, but outlaws could be heretics or non-Christians, either by personal belief or by culture. Your characters in particular are not constrained in concept by the societal norms of the time.

The setting presented here takes place in the year 1106 in the area around the New Forest, on the south coast of England. It is less than forty years after the Norman Conquest, and feelings of rebellion and resentment still simmer. William the Conqueror himself ordered the creation of the forest and displaced commoners from their lands.

England's king, Henry I, has returned from war in Normandy with his older brother, who was stirring up constant trouble against his reign, in tow as prisoner. King Henry has rewarded his most loyal men with lands and titles. The nobility who have lost out are resorting to new means of extortion, the nobility who have gained are seeking to thoroughly exploit their rewards, and mercenaries from the war are seeking pay.

In *Wolf's Head*, the PCs play local outlaws seeking to alleviate the suffering of the poor. They not only oppose the cruel local lords, but the system allowing their cruelty. Their end is in all likelihood tragic, but they might leave a lasting legacy of fame and justice. Their tales have yet to be written. This is their story.

A FINITE CAMPAIGN

The outlaws in *Wolf's Head* walk a fine line between daring acts of courage in fighting for the common people, both for alleviation of their suffering and for their rights, and drawing too much attention to themselves, bringing on the wrath of the authorities of the land, who have the resources to wipe them out once they become too much of a menace.

After a few sessions, the campaign will come to a conclusion, as the outlaws draw the notice of the king and his senior ministers, and they bring the forces to bear to wipe out the outlaws. Probably they won't survive, but perhaps they'll have done enough for their story to inspire future generations, for a legacy of justice to survive them. And the manner in which the rebellion of the outlaws ends is not foreordained. The battle may seem doomed, but it is not in vain.

THE USE OF HISTORY

This setting is based on history but takes some liberties, even beyond the existence of subtle magic. The New Forest region described in this book is a mixture of historical fact, speculation, and pure invention. Some parts of the setting presented later on, such the Rufus Stone being the place where King William Rufus fell, come from later historical legends rather than facts believed by most modern historians. The destruction of villages when the New Forest was created also has a place in legend, but may have been exaggerated.

So feel free to take similar liberties. Aim to capture the flavour without worrying too much about fine details and precise historical facts. If you want to, you could easily change the game to take place in another time in medieval England, such as during the Anarchy or the reign of King John. You could move away from actual history and invent a monarch with the characteristics of some of the worst kings. This game is yours. Do what makes it fun for you.

FATE: WORLDS OF ADVENTURE

The Feudal Order

"The message of the Bible is to help the poor, not burn their villages. And the nobility are no better than commoners. Until the Church realises that, they're as bad as the oppressors."

- Simon Grave, excommunicated priest

Society in Norman England is divided into three groups: the nobility, the peasants, and the Church. There is little social mobility—nobles are nobles because they are born nobles, and the same goes for peasants. Both the nobility and the peasantry have different ranks, though, and movement between those ranks is possible.

Those at the bottom, who make up the vast majority of people, have few rights and fewer opportunities, and the nobility thrives through taxation of the labours of others. The nobility has a traditional duty to protect the peasants they tax, but events such as war remove even that. And war is common. There are the Crusades, strife in Normandy, and the fact that for the first few generations after William the Conqueror, not a single king has come to the throne without at least some war.

The nobility are at the top of the heap and collect taxes from the peasants on their lands. Most nobles are vassals to nobles higher up the chain, owing them military service in exchange for their lands. A monetary payment instead of direct military service is acceptable. The lowest-ranking nobles are knights, then come barons, sheriffs, and earls, with the king and royalty above them all.

There are two broad classes of peasants: serfs and freemen. The serfs are legally bound to the land they work, and are not allowed to move to work other land or seek employment elsewhere. They are not in any sense free. The freemen, although peasants, are free to seek whatever employment they can find. In hard times, however, this can mean they have even less security than serfs.

Within a town, all men are said to be free, and a serf who lives in a town for a year becomes legally a freeman. But only one in ten people in the country live in a town. Besides, towns are dangerous, crowded, unhealthy places. Most towns pay taxes to a sheriff, though some have charters, collecting their own taxes and seeing to their own defence. The workers in a town organise themselves into craft and merchant guilds, who look after their own. Finding employment without connections is likely to be impossible, and a rich freeman who oversees a guild can be as oppressive as any noble.

The Church stands somewhat outside the ordinary system. Freemen and members of the nobility can join its ranks. It has a hierarchy of its own, including lay members, priests, bishops, and archbishops, who in turn answer to the cardinals and ultimately the Pope. Those near the top of the Church hierarchy, such as bishops and powerful abbots and abbesses, usually come from the nobility.

Every noble has a chapel, and every village a church. The Church is everywhere, and it both supports the feudal system and alleviates some of its excesses. Priests preach that God has granted earthly authority to the monarch and spiritual authority to the Church, and that the division between the nobility and peasants is a part of the divine order. That said, the Church also provides alms for the poor and aid for the sick, and the commandments of Christian conduct apply to nobles as well as peasants.

CHARACTERS

Aspects

Player characters in *Wolf's Head* have the following aspects, focused on different elements of being a rebellious, idealistic outlaw.

High Concept: Just as in *Fate Core*, your high concept is what you do, how you might begin to define a character with a short phrase. Are you a skilled forester and archer? A former knight fallen on hard times? A common thief who had the misfortune to be caught and now dreams of higher things? An intimidating thug with a heart, of course, of gold? A learned woman or man of the Church accused of heresy? One regarded as an outsider to the country who fell foul of prejudice?

Background: What did you do before you were an outlaw? Were you an oppressed serf? A knight? A man or woman of the Church? A skilled crafter in a town? How did you fit in, or not fit in, to the structures of Feudal England?

Wolf's Head: How did you become an outlaw? Did you commit a desperate crime and get caught? Were you falsely accused by a rival? Did you fall victim to a noble's brutality, your fate caught up in them trying to "tidy up"? Do you have an ongoing personal enemy? Name and shame them in this aspect!

Belief: You're not just a thug or a thief, though you're outlawed in the eyes of the authorities. What beliefs do you have which make you a rebel, fighting and stealing for what you believe to be right?

Goal: There are many injustices in the world, and the authorities are unjust oppressors. But you can't overthrow them all at once. What particular injustice do you seek to put right? Or do you have a less lofty personal goal? If you triumph, your goal will be your legacy. What will it be?

The Band Aspect

The PCs have formed an outlaw band with shared bonds of friendship and common enemies. How did they come together? What keeps them working as a team? What drives the band into action?

Answering some of these questions as a group will provide another aspect, the **band aspect**. Any player can invoke the band aspect, and it can be compelled against any of them.

Examples of Band Aspects:

CHOSEN OF THE OLD GOD, THE HUNTER; GEOFFREY D'YTANE MUST PAY FOR HIS CRIMES; PROTECTORS OF THE PEOPLE OF THE NEW FOREST; WE'RE FAMILY, WITH BONDS STRONGER THAN BLOOD



Skills and Languages

We make the following minor changes to the *Fate Core* skill list to suit a game of medieval outlaws.

- **Resources:** The PCs are outlaws. They do not have a stable income, and do not accumulate treasure, so they have no Resources skill. In its place, see the rules for *"Treasure"* (page 9).
- **Ride:** Replace Drive with Ride, used when riding horses or driving carts. The scope of the skill is similar.

Most people in Feudal England are illiterate, but there are plenty of exceptions among merchants, the nobility, and especially the clergy.

Any PC with Lore at Average (+1) or higher is literate in any languages they speak. There are two main languages in Norman England: English (which today is called Old English) and Norman French. Eventually these languages will merge to form the modern English language, but they are separate. For simplicity, it is safest to assume that all the PCs speak both of these languages. Some nobles will only speak Norman French, not understanding English, and plenty of commoners will not speak Norman French, though those in regular contact with the nobility will, by necessity.

The other relevant language is Latin, which is the language of the educated, the academic, and of course the Church. Any character with Lore at Good (+3) or higher also knows Latin.

Some minority groups have languages of their own. If your character concept suggests you know another language, such as Hebrew, then you know it.

Stunts

Here are some optional stunts, which capture some of the flavour of a *Wolf's Head* game or interact with some of its new rules, such as threat (page 12) and support (page 11).

Devout Faith: The truly devout Christian, who is both devoted to God and exhibits compassion to their fellows, especially those who are less well off, have power of a sort. Devout followers of other faiths, such as Jews and Muslims, are also sometimes found in England and have the same power. To take this stunt, your character must have an aspect linked to their faith.

If you have this stunt, the local gods (page 14) cannot harm you, and you are immune to their curses. The same is true of the curses of mortal sorcerers (page 16). Further, you can spend a fate point to share this protection with another character until the end of the scene.

Hero of the People: You're well known and popular, so you gain +1 to Rapport when speaking to commoners. Furthermore, at the end of any session where your involvement is known in an endeavour which gains any number of support points, your group gains another support point.

To take this stunt, you must have an aspect indicating your fame and popularity.

Old Friends at Court: Your friends at court give you a small degree of protection, though certainly not enough. When you see a noble who is linked to your old friends, you gain +1 to Rapport with that noble. Furthermore, at the end of each session, reduce your threat points by one, to a minimum of one.

To take this stunt, you must have an aspect linking you to the nobility. Possibly you were a noble before you became an outlaw.

Spirit Speaker: You're aware of the presence of old gods and spirits, and can both speak to them and hear them when they are present, even without you making a gift. Further, both you and the old powers feel a connection; you gain +2 to any Rapport rolls with the old spirits.

Advancement

A *Wolf's Head* game is intended to be fast, with a definite ending after several sessions. Character advancement therefore takes place at a quicker pace.

Do not use minor or major milestones. The pace is too rapid for minor milestones, and the game is too short for major milestones and the big changes they involve. However, at the end of each session, each PC gains a significant milestone.

A NOTE ON EQUIPMENT

In *Wolf's Head* we do not keep track of equipment, nor ordinary bonuses from arms and armour. Compared to the outlaws, certainly knights are better equipped, with chainmail suits and kite shields. This is reflected in their relevant aspects.

Some characters have stunts or aspects which refer to their weapons or protection, but this is the exception rather than the rule.

FATE: WORLDS OF ADVENTURE

NEW MECHANICS

Treasure

If the PCs come into a large quantity of treasure, it's simply an aspect, such as PILE OF GOLD with one free invoke to be used when the treasure is spent. A large treasure might have as many as three free invokes. When all of the free invokes on a treasure aspect have been spent, the aspect is spent and gone.

Treasure can also be redistributed to increase the band's support (page 11).

A player can also spend a fate point to invoke a treasure aspect, spending just some of it or even showing it off to get a result. However, a treasure aspect can also be compelled. After all, it is valuable, meaning less scrupulous thieves and bandits may want it, and it is stolen, meaning the authorities may be trying to track it down. Treasure can also be bulky and conspicuous. It may be best to make use of it quickly.

A treasure aspect can be invoked to:

- Bribe a knight or a group of soldiers
- Get into the good graces of a church or abbey by making a donation
- Buy an expensive item such as a warhorse
- Buy a plot of land or a townhouse—although legal rights over property will be an issue for a wolf's head



Sources of Treasure

Sources of treasure include:

A Merchant's Cart: A merchant's goods might be worth a treasure aspect depending on what is being transported. To be worth stealing, the goods are likely something rarer and more valuable than food for the local market. It could be wine imported from the continent, rich cloth, or perfumes, to give a few examples.

A Lord's Treasury: The amount of treasure a lord has locked up generally depends on their importance. An ordinary lord is likely to have a treasure with one free invoke. Barons might have a treasury with two invokes. A sheriff's or earl's treasury could have three free invokes, though this is rare even for such senior nobles. Nobles tend to invest their treasure and spend what they don't invest in rich furnishings and objects of art. Hoarding coin is the act of a miser.

A Noble's Ransom: The outlaws may think of capturing a noble and ransoming them back to relatives or the authorities. If it's a hated enemy, their humiliation will be a bonus. The ransom, if successful, generates a treasure aspect with one free invoke.

Coin from Taxes: When goods taken in taxation are converted into coin, then is the time to steal it, especially as it is being transported. Such coin is a treasure aspect with one free invoke.

A Rich Church or Abbey: Robbing a church or abbey is not something heroic; after all, one of the functions of the church is giving alms to the poor. There is a key exception, though, which is when the head of the church or abbey is themself corrupt, and the treasures hoarded by the church were stolen or should not really be there. The most obvious treasures will be religious artefacts made of precious materials, but some bishops with temporal power also hoard coin, and when books are found they are also a treasure. Usually there will be treasure with one or two free invokes present. However, an ordinary church or monastery, rather than a prestigious abbey or cathedral, is not likely to have any treasure.

10

Support and Boons

In *Wolf's Head*, **support** measures how much the local people support your band in what you're doing.

At the start of a campaign, your support is zero. At the end of each session, your band of outlaws gains one support point when:

- You distribute treasure to improve the lot of the local poor. This involves having a treasure aspect (page 9). Your band can spend multiple free invokes on treasures to increase support.
- You correct a matter of injustice, such as freeing an innocent prisoner bound for execution.
- You publicly humiliate a hated noble.
- You help others who oppose corrupt authorities.
- You pull off a flashy caper.
- You expose corruption and cause the removal of a hated noble figure.
- You save commoners from death at the hands (direct or indirect) of the authorities.

You can gain support from any number of these conditions per session. For every three support points, the band gains a **boon**. They group of players should chooses from the following list depending on what suits the narrative.

A Possible Ally: A major nonvillainous or ambivalent NPC feels respect for the actions of the PCs. If approached, they could be inspired to become a secret ally.

Suitable NPCs who could become allies are Maud Simnel of Romsey Abbey; Peter Vastal, chief of the Bishop of Winchester's guards; the merchant Emma Caradas; the outlaw Agnes Rose; and Baroness Margaret Longe.

This option can be chosen multiple times across different boons. This boon is an opportunity, not a guarantee—the new ally is not automatic, but the outlaws will know of their interest and potential sympathy.

Popular Support: The PCs are heroes to the commoners of the villages around the New Forest. They will always have a place to stay or even hide, and reasonable assistance that does not take the people away from their livelihoods. They also form a network of informants, giving the PCs information on possible opportunities and dangers.

In nearby towns such as Southampton and Winchester, not everyone will be so well disposed to the PCs, or even necessarily have heard of them, but *some* people will, and they can be found by subtly asking around.

Followers: One or several NPCs join the band. Choose from four Average (+1), two Fair (+2), or one Good (+3) nameless NPC.

The followers are not replaced should they die, but this option can be chosen multiple times across different boons.

The Old Gods: The outlaws get the chance to make arrangements with one of the old gods (page 14), perhaps gaining blessings and warnings.



Threat

Your band is being hunted by the authorities and will more likely than not meet a tragic ending. **Threat** measures how much of an issue the authorities find your band, and how much effort they will spend to oust you.

At the start of a campaign, your threat is zero, but it will steadily increase. At the end of each session, you gain one threat point plus more as follows:

- You successfully oppose plans of the local nobility or clergy (1 threat) or king (2 threat).
- You steal from an important noble (1 threat), the Church (2 threat), or the king (2 threat).
- You kill a member of the clergy or a higher-ranking noble (3 threat).
- You kill a member of the royal family or a senior Church figure (5 threat).
- You behave in a cruel or callous way towards ordinary people, and in particular those in need (2 threat).
- Your names and faces become known to the local authorities (2 threat) or to the king or ministers (3 threat)—apply each increase only once during the campaign.

A single person cannot increase your threat multiple times; just apply the highest increase. For example, should the PCs kill a noble and proceed to steal his treasure, just increase threat by 3 points for the noble's murder; the added robbery doesn't make things any worse. Note, however, that stealing is in genre and helpful to gain treasure and increase support. Murder is not in genre—though if a noble faces the heroes in combat with a squad of soldiers intending violence, there may be no alternative to something fatal.

FATE: WORLDS OF ADVENTURE



Every increment of three threat points introduces a new issue for the PCs, as follows:

- **3 Threat:** The king fills the vacant office of sheriff in the area, or appoints another high-rank noble. The new official is likely to take a personal interest in the outlaws. As a default, Sheriff Hubert de Montaigne (page 30) receives his appointment, to collect taxes and impose law and order. Alternatively, another noble known to the PCs, either a local or someone from their background, could be promoted into this role.
- **6 Threat:** A sorcerous threat comes onto the scene, either with Baron Baldwin of Corfe taking an interest in some of the more mystical elements of the New Forest, or with an established NPC enemy becoming more dangerous and deranged when they acquire sorcerous powers or the help of a malevolent old god.
- **9 Threat:** Betrayal. One of the PCs' allies either betrays them or is discovered, and has pressure brought to bear on the outlaws. If this ally came as part of a boon, the betrayal is not absolute—rather, the ally is in trouble and might be helped.
- **12 Threat:** The endgame. The king orders the death or capture of the outlaws at all costs, and throws considerable resources at the problem. This is likely to be tragic, but not hopeless. The authorities will begin by going after the PCs' suspected allies and anyone who shelters them or who the outlaws have aided, seeking to force them into the open. See *"All the King's Men (Final Adventure)"* (page 37) for details.

MAGIC AND MYSTICISM

The Old Gods

There are forgotten powers and spirits out there in the world. Very few have interacted directly with them, but belief in their influence is widespread. To the Church, most of these powers are officially demons, and indeed some are malicious or have turned malicious through the acts of their followers. But these powers are older than Christianity, and not quite faded.

In a few places, the powers still lurk, invisible and immaterial. Such places are sites of outstanding beauty and include forest glades, streams, and caves. A power has a name, sometimes matching that of a pagan god. Maybe they are one and the same. In their home, a power can do any of the following:

- **Speak to someone** who can sense the presence of the power. This means a character with the Spirit Speaker stunt (page 8) or an aspect tying them to the power.
- Sense faraway places and pass the information to the PCs. This is absolutely a GM plot device and not one to overuse.
- **Bless a character.** A blessing takes the form of an aspect with a free invoke. A blessing can be renewed if the power wills it when a character next visits the power's home. It can be compelled and invoked, but the GM should only compel it when doing so also serves the power's interests. Normally a blessing lasts until the end of the session.
- **Curse a character.** A curse takes the form of an immediate consequence of the lowest severity available. If a character has no consequences slots free, a curse could even kill them. This curse cannot be removed unless the power chooses to lift it. Fortunately, a power can only curse a given character once, though they can curse multiple people. If a power lifts a curse, they are free to impose another one in the future.

Example Blessing Aspects: The Goddess of the Spring Strengthens My Sword Arm; The Hunter Ensures My Arrows Fly True; The Lady of the Mists Will Help Hide Me from Enemies; I Know the Hidden Paths of the Forest

The aid of the old gods is seldom free. Usually, to gain a god's favour, one must make a gift or a sacrifice. Particularly nasty powers might even demand the gift of a human sacrifice. A worthy sacrifice will create an aspect temporarily tying the character who makes it to the power, meaning they can dimly hear the power's offers and demands until the end of the scene. Only the one who made the sacrifice will hear the old god; if several people seek favours, they must each make their own sacrifice, though they can do it together. In order to gain aid from a power, the character who made the sacrifice must succeed on a Rapport roll at an appropriate difficulty.



Examples of Worthy Sacrifices

- A human sacrifice to an evil god, fairly regarded as a demon by Christians who know the old stories
- Treasure—sacrificing treasure to an old god spends one of its free invokes
- A relic from a Christian abbey
- A weapon which the sacrificer can reasonably claim has been used to slay enemies of the old god

For a success at a cost, a god might bind the character in an oath to perform a service. Alternatively, the character might offer a service instead of a sacrifice. Breaking the oath to the power brings down a curse on the oathbreaker.

The powers are not quite invulnerable. The destruction or defilement of their sacred place, the place of beauty where they dwell, will destroy the power. Those who live nearby will know that visiting such destruction is a bad idea. A power will certainly curse any who seek to destroy it, and some powers have guardians, whether people or animals, who will rise to defend it.

Mortal Sorcerers

A mortal sorcerer has entered into a pact with dark powers and is granted magical knowledge in return. A sorcerer could be a desperate commoner or a baron greedy for more power at any cost. A sorcerer must practice their arts in secret, for the crime of sorcery brings the death sentence. It is rare indeed for a noble to be accused of sorcery. When it comes to commoners, false accusations outnumber true ones many times over, though the witch hunts which will swamp Europe in a tide of fear and cruelty are still centuries ahead.

In exchange for their service to a demon and dark power, and probable eternal damnation, a sorcerer can do the following.

- **Divination:** The sorcerer will sometimes receive useful visions, possibly aided by a form of divination such as drawing cards or staring into a fire. As with spirits, a sorcerer's divination is entirely a plot device and should not be overused. That said, it is certainly appropriate for a sorcerer to have a vision warning them of an armed party coming to kill them.
- **Curses:** A sorcerer's curse is milder than the curse of an old god, and takes the form of a mental attack with Lore or Provoke, defended against with Will. If the defender takes a consequence, it will be something magical representing the nature of the curse. If the sorcerer is ever killed, they may roll once with a +4 bonus to curse their killer.
- **Geasa:** A sorcerer may bind someone to their service with a geas—an oath which carries with it a magical punishment if it is broken. The target of a geas must state their oath, but a statement could be coerced from them by threats or torment. If the victim of a geas breaks their oath, they are subject to one curse from the sorcerer, who rolls with a +2 bonus.

A player character cannot be a sorcerer. They are villains. They might be sympathetic villains who turned to sorcery out of desperation, but they have nonetheless performed some deeply unsavoury acts to gain their power.

OTHER MAGIC

Sorcerers are NPCs, and the only "magical" powers a PC might possess are the stunts Devout Faith and Spirit Speaker. There is no other form of magic in *Wolf's Head*; the setting has mystical elements, but the game is not about magic.

If your group want to increase the amount of magic, such as by using an option from the *Fate System Toolkit*, you should naturally feel free, but know that this will change the nature of the game from a historical setting with some subtle magical elements to a magical setting. Of course, this might be exactly what you want to do.

THE SETTING

Wolf's Head is set the area around the New Forest in the year 1106, six years after Henry I became king. The king has just returned from Normandy, victorious in war, and seeks to reward those who fought with him. As well as the New Forest itself, the game is set around Winchester, base of the royal treasury, the mercantile port town of Southampton, and abbeys and castles in the general area.

This area is of direct interest to the king and his most important ministers. There are rich pickings for a band of outlaws, and opportunities greater than ordinary robbery. The people have suffered here, and it's going to get worse.



The New Forest

"William the Conqueror? Bill the bastard, I call him! And don't listen to what the nobles tell you—the conquest wasn't quick and clean and done at the Battle of Hastings. I've heard stories from the north of England which made me shiver. But the worst thing he did to the ordinary folk round here was making the New Forest. Before it became a big royal hunting ground, people lived there, not just in villages round the edges. But they were cleared out, villages burned, and those who wouldn't move were killed.

"Those who didn't up sticks and move when they were asked to...well, you can guess what happened to them. But I live in the forest now, free if you can call being a wolf's head free. It's better than serving them."

- Beatrice Ashe, former forester

The New Forest is a royal hunting ground, meaning it may not be farmed, and the only ones who can hunt there are those with the permission of the king. It is not a place to live, or a source of food. It is a playground where nobles can kill animals for fun. The king employs foresters in the New Forest, who are tasked with making sure the forest is well stocked with game and keeping out poachers and other intruders.

But the forest is vast and wild, and someone who knows the land can stay out of the way of the authorities for years. In *Wolf's Head*, the outlaw PCs make their home here. They might even gain at least the passive acceptance of the foresters—after all, armed and dangerous rebels are above their pay grade.

Six years ago, in the year 1100, King William Rufus, son of William the Conqueror, died in a hunting accident in the New Forest. His body was abandoned by his noble companions where it fell, as William Rufus's younger brother, Henry, rushed to secure the royal treasury in Winchester, and then the crown for himself. It was only later that the king's body was brought back, when a peasant stumbled across it.

The place William Rufus fell is marked by a stone. Local legend has it that the forest glade around the stone is a place of magical power, where the ghost of the dead king is chained. Stories say that the ghost is there because the king's body was disrespected by his companions, because he was murdered, or because the old king is trapped on the earth by his wickedness in life.

The legends are half-true. Those coming here feel a sense of brooding and watchfulness, though this is not from any ghost, but from an old god who was here long before the king's fateful final hunt. The ancient power's name is forgotten, but some remember his title: the Stag.

MURDER OR ACCIDENT?

William Rufus was not a popular king. He quarrelled extensively with the Church. He heavily raised a special tax on commoners to pay for the First Crusade. His reign was marked by rebellion and an attempted invasion from Scotland, though William Rufus's army dealt with all military threats, and the king was popular with his soldiers.

The question must be raised as to whether William Rufus's death was genuinely an accident. Many had cause to seek his death, and his younger brother Henry benefited immensely. History records the name of the member of the hunting party who shot the king, a nobleman named Walter Tirel, who was noted for his skill with the bow. After the fateful hunt, Walter Tirel went into exile in France.

The truth of the matter in your game of *Wolf's Head*, if it is relevant, is up to you.

Villages

There are several villages around the edge of the New Forest. The most notable of these are Christchurch, Lymington, Lyndhurst, Milton, Milford, and Ringwood. Some of these villages are close to manors, where nobles, their servants, and a few household warriors live. There are no castles in the immediate surroundings of the New Forest.

Milton

Milton is a village on the south coast with an inn, the St. Julian, named after the patron saint of hospitality. There is a chapel devoted to Mary Magdalene, and a few farms with a weekly market. The lord's manor sits in a defensible position outside the village on top of an earthwork mound, but it's far from being a castle.

The lord of the manor is Geoffrey d'Ytane, who came into possession of Milton thanks to his murder of the old lord and forged documentation. The people of the village keep their heads down, hoping to avoid their brutal new lord's wrath. Geoffrey has around two dozen "knights" in his employ who are in reality mere thugs. They live in Milton, in some cases displacing other families, and Sir Geoffrey is always eager for more recruits, whether local or from further afield.

MANORS

A lord's manor is attached to farmed land and perhaps controls a nearby village. A typical manor is mainly a single-storey building built around a long great hall with doors at each end. Kitchens and storage areas are attached. There may also be a small chapel on the grounds. The lord and his family live in the solarium, which is a structure two or three storeys high adjoining the great hall from the side.

Lyndhurst

Lyndhurst was once one of the major villages in the area, almost a town, with the right to hold a weekly market. Like other villages in the area, it lost most of its lands to the creation of the New Forest. The local baron of Lyndhurst was compensated for any loss of land, gaining the prestigious title Warden of the Forest. But even that has been withdrawn from Lyndhurst's current ruler, the baroness Margaret Longe. The baroness is a childless widow, and although she inherited the much-reduced lands around Lyndhurst, she has no formal title or right to be called Warden.

Ringwood

When William the Conqueror had the New Forest created, most of the land in the village of Ringwood was ceded to the forest, and most of its people were forced to move elsewhere.

The manor of Ringwood, once the property of a Saxon earl, became a royal hunting lodge, the base for royal hunts setting off into the forest.

Towns

Southampton

Southampton is a major port, and those crossing the sea between Normandy and the south coast of England will come here. There is a French quarter in Southampton dating from before the Norman conquest, but a few residents come from even further afield.

Not only people and armies come to Southampton. There is steady trade in goods between England and continental Europe, and Southampton is a centre of distribution for such goods going to sell elsewhere in England.

The main symbol of royal authority in Southampton is the castle, built not long after Norman rule began, in the west part of the city, overlooking the docks and surrounded by the houses of the richest merchants. Despite the presence of the castle, these merchants are the most important and powerful people in the city.

Winchester

The town of Winchester is a centre of power, both royal and religious. It is the second most important city in the country, after London. Although Norman England has no capital, Winchester is a place of importance and has been a centre of royal authority since the time of Alfred the Great.

Norman power and prestige are demonstrated in Winchester in the form of the cathedral, the largest building in Europe. There is tension between the king and the Church over who gets to appoint bishops, but when it comes to the appointment of the Bishop of Winchester, the king currently has the upper hand. The centre of royal power, however, is Winchester Castle, where the royal treasury and, even more importantly, the financial records of the kingdom are kept. Naturally, all these are securely guarded. The king's soldiers at the castle have a rivalry with the guards who serve the bishop, as

Winchester Castle is a royal possession, too important to fall under the control of a local baron.

When the royal court is not in residence in Winchester, the lord of the castle is the local sheriff, who is in charge of keeping the peace and collecting taxes in the area. For several years, the office has been vacant, but a new appointment, Hubert de Montaigne, is keen to make his mark.

Winchester has England's largest Jewish population, who settled in the city by invitation of William the Conqueror. The Jewish citizens of England, and everything they own, are regarded as the king's "property," outside the authority of any other nobles. Those of the Jewish faith are permitted to practise moneylending, which is forbidden to Christians. These moneylending services are used by England's high-ranking nobles, the king, and even the Church.

At this time, Jewish people are not yet subject to the violent hatreds which will sweep medieval England from the year 1144 onwards, but people still fear them as being "different."

Castles

Corfe Castle

Corfe Castle occupies a commanding position on a hilltop. The structure dates from just before the Norman Conquest, but a stone keep was completed on the order of King Henry I just last year. Though it's a royal castle, Corfe Castle is currently under the control of Baron Baldwin. Although certainly a prominent noble, he is a loner with no known family and a rumoured practitioner of sorcery. But none have any doubts as to his right to occupy the castle.

Devizes Castle

Devizes Castle was built by the previous bishop of Salisbury, and is the property of the new bishop, Roger le Poer. Le Poer is better known as a talented businessman than as a pious religious leader, and has not yet been consecrated in his position owing to a falling-out with Anselm, the Archbishop of Canterbury.

The castle dungeons have a new prominent prisoner, Robert Curthose, the eldest son of William the Conqueror and the former Duke of Normandy. Robert strove with his younger brother Henry I for the English crown, and was ousted as duke earlier this year when the king led an invasion of Normandy. He is kept in Devizes Castle so as to be a safe distance from the usual centres of royal power and possible court sympathisers.



Abbeys

Hyde Abbey

Hyde Abbey is just outside the walls of Winchester. The current site is new, moved on the order of King Henry I. The new abbey has not yet been consecrated, though some monks are already in residence. When it is consecrated, there are plans to move the bodies of King Alfred the Great, along with his wife and son, and inter them before the altar.

Abbot Godric has hopes that this interment will add to the new abbey's prestige and make it a pilgrimage site. However, the royal authorities and the Bishop of Winchester fear that any ceremony around the body of the most famous Saxon king will lead to a wave of protest and ill feeling against Norman rule. Thus, the plans to consecrate the abbey keep being put off with increasingly farfetched excuses.

Romsey Abbey

Romsey Abbey is a convent hosting a community of nuns. It also has prestige as both a centre of learning and a place of healing. Several of the nuns are skilled in medicine and herb lore, and its herb garden contains several plants not found elsewhere in the area. The nuns keep careful watch over the herb garden; the line between a rare plant being used as medicine and as poison can be surprisingly thin.

The Abbess of Romsey Abbey was a commoner before she became a nun. She lacks connections among the nobility, and some of the local nobles, even senior officials in the Church, do not take her seriously despite her status.

Thus the prestige of Romsey Abbey is fading, and it sometimes goes short on funds. The nuns work hard in the orchards and fields to support the abbey, though most of them would sooner be cloistered scholars. The abbess has been heard praying for a rich patient who could be healed at the abbey and would reward it with generous donations.

FATE: WORLDS OF ADVENTURE



People

William Giffard, Bishop of Winchester

William Giffard is one of the most powerful men in England, and he takes no nonsense nor lets anyone stand in his way. He was the lord chancellor to the king, in charge of the royal coffers, and his position as bishop was a reward for his service. He is clever in politics, subtle when he needs to be, ruthless when he has to be.

The bishop is not an evil man as such, but he does not care about the suffering of ordinary people, and will give brutal orders for the greater good. Despite being a member of the clergy, he has accumulated a good deal of personal wealth.

Sir Peter Vastal

Sir Peter Vastal is honest, honourable, and stubborn. He is not a deep thinker, but is loyal to his lord, the Bishop of Winchester, and capable in matters of the bishop's security or the security of Winchester Castle.

THE BISHOP'S GUARDS

The bishop's guards are knights, elite warriors who are better trained and armed than a common soldier. Although they form a mob, the guards are still dangerous adversaries as a group.

Maud Simnel, Abbess of Romsey

The Abbess of Romsey is one of the most important people in the area. However, her background as a commoner means some of the nobility don't take her as seriously as they should. This may mean she's more sympathetic than she should be to the PC outlaws, who seem to do good despite their legal status. She also cannot hide her dislike of the Bishop of Winchester, who she sees as worldly and venal.

Abbess Maud has found something of a retreat from troublesome politics in books. She is particularly interested in history and poetry, though she is also sharp when it comes to matters of law.

William Giffard

ASPECTS

Former Lord Chancellor; Ear of the King; Bishop of Winchester; Great Personal Wealth; Ruthless for the Greater Good

SKILLS

Superb (+5): Contacts, Will
Great (+4): Lore, Provoke, Rapport
Good (+3): Athletics, Deceive,
Investigate, Notice

Fair (+2): Crafts, Empathy, Fight, Ride

STUNTS

Escape Plan: When you would be taken out, you can spend a fate point to immediately concede instead.

Guards, Guards!: Once per session, you can call reinforcements—Sir Peter Vastal and four elite guards.

STRESS

Physical **12** Mental **1234**

CONSEQUENCES

Mild (2): Mild Mental (2): Moderate (4): Severe (6):

Sir Peter Vastal

ASPECTS

Loyal Captain of the Bishop's Guards; I Always Catch Intruders; Honest and Honourable; Not a Deep Thinker

SKILLS

Superb (+5): Athletics Great (+4): Fight, Ride Good (+3): Physique, Notice, Will

STUNTS

Knight in Shining Armour: Peter's armour gives him a mild physical consequence slot, included below.

- **Bodyguard:** If another character in his zone is attacked, Peter can spend a fate point to redirect the attack toward himself.
- **Lead the Pursuit:** In a chase, all of Peter's followers may use his Athletics or Ride roll if he is with them.
- **Dangerous Blade:** When he succeeds on an attack with his sword, Peter does an extra 2 shifts of harm.

STRESS

Physical **1234** Mental **1234**

CONSEQUENCES Mild (2): Mild Physical (2):

Mild Physical (2): Moderate (4): Severe (6):

The Bishop's Guards

ASPECTS

Knights in the Service of the Bishop; Better Trained and Armed than Ordinary Soldiers

SKILLS

Good (+3): Fight

Average (+1): Notice

STUNTS

Deadly Weapons: When they succeed on an attack, the bishop's guards do an extra shift of harm.

Baroness Margaret Longe, Lady of Lyndhurst

Margaret Longe's husband died in the recent war in Normandy, leaving his wife in control of his property. She has no children, and is enjoying the exercise of independent power and the business of being a ruler.

The baroness's short-term goal is to regain one title held by her husband, which she has not been granted, namely Warden of the New Forest. She has effective command of the foresters, but no formal authority, and has been challenged by the local nobility. Margaret does not mind getting her hands dirty to get her way, and is even willing to work with outlaws if it helps her aims. That said, actually capturing a prominent band of outlaws would do wonders for Margeret's standing.

In the long term, the baroness desires more power and being appointed as a senior counsellor of the king, an unusual position for a woman who is not one of the royal family. But however it might help her, Margaret will not marry again, and so put her fortunes under the legal control of another.

MARGARET'S SERVANTS

Margaret's servants, women and men alike, are as much guards as anything else, though they seem and act more like domestic help. They carry small concealed weapons for emergencies.

Sir Geoffrey d'Ytane, Lord of Milton

Sir Geoffrey d'Ytane is a dangerous warrior, a brutal thug, and a man without scruples. His vicious reputation means he is not welcomed by the more polite nobles, but the Bishop of Winchester makes use of him as he might a vicious dog in a hunt, and rewards Sir Geoffrey well for his services.

When the Lord of Milton died, passing all of his property to his oldest son, it was straightforward enough for Geoffrey to kill the older son and frame the younger for his murder. Then, thanks to a document provided by the Bishop of Winchester, Geoffrey d'Ytane became Lord of Milton. It was a fitting payment for Sir Geoffrey's unique services.

Big Walt

Big Walt is Sir Geoffrey d'Ytane's second-in-command. Despite having such an exalted role, he is not even a minor noble. He's a commoner, but does not act like it. Perhaps because of his elevation, Big Walt seems to feel actual loyalty towards his brutish lord; it will take a huge reward to make Big Walt betray him.

That said, should anything happen to Geoffrey d'Ytane, Big Walt is confident he could become the trusted man of another mercenary captain or brutish baron. Such job opportunities are easy to come by for one of his talents.

SIR GEOFFREY'S MEN

Sir Geoffrey's men are thugs, pure and simple. Anything they lack in skill they make up for in viciousness and willingness to get their hands very dirty indeed. Naturally, they form mobs.

Maud Simnel

ASPECTS

Abbess of Romsey; Once a Peasant; Bookworm; Dislikes the Bishop of Winchester

SKILLS

Great (+4): Lore Good (+3): Empathy, Will Fair (+2): Contacts, Investigate, Rapport

STUNTS

Legal Expertise: Maud can use Lore to make a social attack when arguing a legal case or when her knowledge of the law is otherwise relevant.

STRESS

Physical **12** Mental **1234**

CONSEQUENCES Mild (2):

Margaret's Servants

ASPECTS

More than Meets the Eye

SKILLS

Fair (+2): Deceive
Average (+1): Fight, Notice

STRESS 1

Baroness

Margaret Longe

ASPECTS

Baroness of Lyndhurst; Greedy for More Power; I Will Not Marry Again

SKILLS

Fantastic (+6): Rapport

Superb (+5): Notice, Will

- **Great (+4):** Empathy, Investigate, Provoke
- **Good (+3):** Contacts, Deceive, Lore, Ride

STUNTS

- **Political Animal:** In a political environment or argument, Margaret may use Rapport to make mental attacks.
- A Harmless Widow: It is difficult even for the most hardened of brutes to bring themselves to harm Margaret. She can use Rapport to defend against physical attacks.
- Armed Servants: Margaret is not a military leader, but she is never far from a few followers who will jump to her defence. She rewards those who serve her well, and is careful of possible danger. Once per session, Margaret may call up eight of her servants for aid if she is in peril.

STRESS

Physical **12** Mental **1234**

CONSEQUENCES Mild (2): Mild Mental (2): Moderate (4): Severe (6):

Sir Geoffrey d'Ytane

ASPECTS

THE BISHOP OF WINCHESTER'S ATTACK DOG; I'LL KILL IN BOTH HOT BLOOD AND COLD; FEARSOME Reputation; Unwelcome in POLITE SOCIETY

SKILLS

Superb (+5): Deceive, Provoke Great (+4): Athletics, Fight, Stealth Good (+3): Physique, Notice, Shoot, Will

Fair (+2): Investigate, Lore, Ride

STUNTS

Bloody Wound: When Geoffrey succeeds on an attack, he can spend a fate point to force the defender to take a consequence or increase the severity of an existing consequence by one step.

Terrifying Fighter: Once per scene, Geoffrey can make a physical and mental attack with Provoke, defended against with Will.

You Can't Touch Me: Until Geoffrey takes physical harm during the scene, he can use Provoke to defend.

STRESS

Physical **1234** Mental 1234

CONSEQUENCES Mild (2): Moderate (4): Severe (6):

Big Walt

ASPECTS

UNGENTLE GIANT; COMMON BIRTH, KNIGHTLY STATION: TRUSTED MAN OF GEOFFREY D'YTANE

SKILLS

Superb (+5): Physique Great (+4): Fight, Provoke Good (+3): Athletics, Shoot, Will

STUNTS

Hard to Hurt: You can use Physique to defend against physical attacks.

STRESS

Physical **1 2 3 4** Mental **1 2 3 4**

CONSEQUENCES Mild (2): Mild Physical (2): Moderate (4): Severe (6):

Sir Geoffrey's Men

ASPECTS

More Thugs than Soldiers: DIRTY WORK FOR VICIOUS MEN

SKILLS

Fair (+2): Fight Average (+1): Notice

STRESS 1

Emma Caradas

Emma is a merchant based in Southampton who trades in imported luxuries from continental Europe. Growing up, she had not intended to be a businesswoman, but rather had intended to enter Romsey Abbey as a nun. But Emma's fortunes changed when her father died after a long illness, and her rash older brother, Thomas, was executed for poaching when he was caught taking a shortcut across the New Forest.

Now Emma has control of the family business and must do well enough to look after her younger siblings. She is sharp and notices things, both her environment and the reactions of people around her. Emma is also serious-minded, sensible, and learned; though she will never admit it, the business is doing far better with her at its head than it ever did under her father, let alone Thomas.

Emma's main issue is that she has trouble trusting the competence of others, especially her siblings, and therefore finds herself leading most of the business expeditions herself.



FATE: WORLDS OF ADVENTURE

Agnes Rose

Agnes Rose leads a band of outlaws in the New Forest. She was once a servant in the household of Baron Baldwin of Corfe, and fled into the forest after trying to kill him. Her only regret is that she did not succeed. Agnes has learned about the baron's secret altar and demonic worship, but so far has told nobody.

The former servant now leads a score of people, all hiding from the authorities, preying on merchants and passing traffic. Some of Agnes's followers have committed horrible crimes in their past; Agnes does not ask questions. The outlaws are not heroes. They are predators on rich and poor alike, killing and stealing to survive. They have no scruples. Agnes herself is bitter and cynical, and only leads her band because a group has better opportunities than individuals. It's a sort of loyalty. Her followers, half seriously and half mockingly, call her the queen of the forest.

Agnes is not an immediate ally of the PCs, and she is just as likely to sell them out as she is to work with them. She might be persuaded to cooperate against a common enemy, but this will be a temporary arrangement. After all, there is only room for one queen of the forest.

Agnes Rose

ASPECTS

Outlaw Leader; Ideals Are for the Foolish; There Are Predators and Prey, Nothing Else; My Group Is Stronger Together than as Individuals; Fear of Baron Baldwin of Corfe

SKILLS

Superb (+5): Shoot Great (+4): Notice, Stealth Good (+3): Athletics, Fight, Provoke

STUNTS

Hail of Arrows: Once per scene, Agnes can send a hail of arrows, attacking everyone in a zone.

Shoot to Kill: When Agnes attacks with Shoot and has an aspect representing taking aim or setting an ambush, she does two extra shifts of harm.

Attack Position: Agnes can create an advantage with Stealth to set an ambush for herself and any followers. Anyone who invokes this aspect gets +3 rather than +2.

STRESS

Physical **1**2

Mental **1**2

CONSEQUENCES Mild (2): Moderate (4): Severe (6):

Sheriff Hubert de Montaigne

Hubert de Montaigne is an ambitious young noble, newly appointed to the position of sheriff. The position of regional sheriff has been vacant for several years, since the death of King William Rufus.

The last sheriff and various temporary officials assigned to collect taxes have been corrupt, but the new sheriff is known for his absolute hatred of corruption and his loyalty to King Henry, which is one reason for his appointment. He is absolutely opposed to anyone he sees as enemies to the king, whether rebellious nobles, outlaws, or common criminals. The sheriff will not compromise, take bribes, or make alliances of convenience.

Hubert de Montaigne is absolute when it comes to collecting money or goods owed. Should he not receive what is due, he will deal out harsh and disproportionate punishments, starting with maimings and ending with decimation of a village's population. Fear is a tool for prompt and accurate payment. At least the sheriff won't burn whole villages for fear of affecting tax revenue, and does not quietly increase taxes in order to enrich himself.

He does not see himself as a zealot, but rather as someone who is absolutely dedicated to fairness and the cause of peace, in the name of the king. Even small deviations cannot be tolerated when it comes to money or disloyalty, for that is where the rot begins.

Baron Baldwin of Corfe

Baron Baldwin is the ruler of Corfe Castle, and nobody questions his right to be there, even though the castle is a royal possession and the baron appears to have no noble relatives. There is far more to the baron than it seems. He is a sorcerer sworn to serve a demonic old god known simply as the Cunning One. The baron does not know the being's name. Indeed, one thing he seeks is to learn it, for then he might have some power over the Cunning One.

Corfe Castle, and the subtle clouding of mortal minds which let Baldwin declare himself a baron, were both a gift of the Cunning One and a demonstration of its power. In return for this gift, Baron Baldwin worships the Cunning One in secret, and has promised to bring more people into the Cunning One's service—and to sacrifice someone to the Cunning One each month. It is easy enough for Baron Baldwin to find criminals to execute, and nobody cares if the execution is ritualistic and in secret.

What the baron does not know is that the Cunning One's gift taxed the ancient and tired being to its limits. It is only now beginning to recover with the diet of sacrifices. The Cunning One wants more influence and more power, and Baron Baldwin will be its tool. The being is not too different from an ambitious human noble in some ways.

Sheriff Hubert de Montaigne

ASPECTS

ZEALOUS LOYALTY TO THE KING: NOT A PENNY MORE, NOT A PENNY Less; No Compromise with CRIMINALS: ATROCITIES IN THE NAME OF FAIRNESS AND PEACE

SKILLS

Fantastic (+6): Provoke Superb (+5): Investigate, Will Great (+4): Contacts, Lore, Notice Good (+3): Athletics, Fight, Physique, Ride

STUNTS

- Absolute Conviction: Like those protected by their faith, Sheriff Hubert cannot be harmed by the curses of old gods or sorcerers.
- You Dare Not Harm Me: Until the first time he takes harm in a conflict, Hubert can use Will to defend against physical attacks.
- You Dare Not Lie to Me: Anyone who tells a lie to Hubert must succeed on a Deceive roll opposed by Hubert's Provoke to avoid stammering, sweating, or giving other obvious signs.

STRESS

Physical 123 Mental **1 2 3 4**

CONSEQUENCES Mild (2): Mild Mental (2): Moderate (4): Severe (6):

Baron Baldwin of Corfe

ASPECTS

BARON OF CORFE CASTLE: Mysterious Past: Secret Sorcerer Servant of a Demon GOD: DARK GIFTS

SKILLS

Superb (+5): Lore Great (+4): Investigate, Provoke Good (+3): Notice, Physique, Will Fair (+2): Athletics, Fight, Ride

STUNTS

Sorcerous: Baron Baldwin is a sorcerer, with the powers described in "Mortal Sorcerers" (page 16).

STRESS

Physical 1 2 3 4 Mental **1 2 3 4**

CONSEQUENCES Mild (2): Moderate (4): Severe (6):



ADVENTURES

Broadly, adventures in *Wolf's Head* come in the form of opportunities and dangers. An opportunity is a chance for the outlaws to earn treasure and do good deeds, thumbing their noses at the forces opposing them. A danger is an adventure which comes to the outlaws, presenting a problem they have to deal with.

A *Wolf's Head* campaign mixes opportunities and dangers. GMs, you'll want to present opportunities or a choice of opportunities for the heroes to pursue. A danger comes along soon after an issue arises from increasing threat, and introduces the situation given by the threat. An individual adventure can also mix an opportunity and a danger.

The Bishop's Treasure

This is a ready-to-play scenario for *Wolf's Head*. It can be used as a stand-alone game or as part of a campaign. It also works as an introduction for a campaign, with sufficiently many potential loose ends to keep your players interested.

Opening Scene

The outlaws have a tip-off...a lightly protected cargo of wine, imported from Southampton, bound for Baron Baldwin at Corfe Castle. They know the route, the northern road through the forest, and the time. They have had time to prepare an ambush.

Each player character may describe their preparations and roll to create an advantage.

But what comes through first is not the merchant's wagon, but rather a boy of around thirteen carrying a bundle wrapped in cloth, running away on foot from a group of six mounted warriors. The boy turns and flees to the south. Two of the knights keep with the horses; the other four pursue. The warriors have plain shields and serve Sir Geoffrey d'Ytane (page 25); any character familiar with him can recognise them with a roll against Average (+1) difficulty.

The leader of the pursuing gang is Big Walt (page 25); the others are ordinary thugs serving Sir Geoffrey. The PCs have the choice of doing something or continuing their planned robbery. Relevant aspects involving helping others or having Sir Geoffrey as an enemy may compel them into action.

WHAT HAPPENED?

Geoffrey d'Ytane, still new in his control of Milton, did a search of properties for tax purposes. His men found one woman, Avice Martel, with an antique Roman sword, similar to a sword he once took on the bishop's orders. D'Ytane decided he needed to take the sword, and the woman to William Giffard, Bishop of Winchester—Giffard had previously paid well for a job capturing a similar sword.

But while d'Ytane made preparations, the man sent his son to flee with the sword, and made a stand against d'Ytane's men. They captured him and took him to the bishop's palace in Winchester, while Big Walt took some men in pursuit of the boy with the sword. If the PCs interfere, one warrior will continue chasing the boy, and the other four, along with Big Walt, will turn to fight the PCs. The PCs have three rounds to rescue the boy before the warrior catches up with him.

The Boy and the Wine Merchant

The boy is Nicholas Martel, from Milton, to the south of the forest. The package he carries in the bundle is a sword, an ancient Roman gladius from the time of the conquest of Britain. If players are using sample PCs (page 39), the sword is twin to the one Beatrice Ashe's father once had. On the hilt is scratched a single word: *Roquetius*.

The sword was inherited by Nicholas Martel's mother, a woman who knows lots of old stories. She told Nicholas to take the sword to the stream by the king's stone, and throw it in. The stone is just north of the road, presumably the Rufus Stone, said to be haunted or cursed.

Nicholas, once the sword is safe, is determined to rescue his mother from the Bishop of Winchester. With luck, the PCs will be heroic enough to get involved here—otherwise, poor Nicholas is doomed.

Naturally the wine merchant is due soon, and will come through while the PCs are still "tidying up" from the last encounter. The merchant is William Caradas, cousin and employee of the merchant Emma Caradas, who is based in Southampton (page 20).

If he suspects trouble, William will turn back. He's not stupid. He can give information about some of the movements nearby but isn't really relevant to the adventure, apart from providing a possible extra prize for the outlaws.

ROQUETIUS

If they come in contact with the sword, the characters can gain information with Lore roll against a Good (+3) difficulty—two pieces on a success with style. Everyone may roll.

- Roquetius was a Celtic hunter god who sometimes took human prey. He was worshipped in the New Forest.
- The Romans stamped out the cult of Roquetius.
- The followers of Roquetius took their sacrifices to the god, stripped them, and let them run to be hunted down.
- In one myth, Roquetius himself was killed by two Roman soldiers. Their swords still have power over the god when both are used at once.
- His shrine was in Colpix Cave, an ancient barrow on Beaulieu Heath.

Any success will also tell the rolling character that more information is available in Romsey Abbey (page 34).

William Caradas

ASPECTS

Travelling Wine Seller; No Unnecessary Risks

SKILLS

Good (+3): Rapport Average (+1): Notice

STRESS 1

Guards

ASPECTS Hired Guards

SKILLS Fair (+2): Fight

STRESS 1



Investigations

There are several places the PCs might go to next, pursuing the leads they have from the boy and the sword.

THE RUFUS STONE

The Rufus Stone marks the place where King William Rufus was shot "by accident" on a hunt. It is said to be haunted. This isn't quite true, but there is an ancient spirit present, and those who come to the stone report a feeling of brooding watchfulness. The boy, Nicholas Martel, is to give the sword to the spirit and ask for aid.

A character who succeeds at a Good (+3) Lore roll will know that the spirit is an old power sometimes called the Stag, who will respond to a gift of a libation of wine poured on the ground near the stone. An old god will not normally respond to such a small sacrifice, but the Stag recognises Nicholas Martel, as it knows his father and is favourably inclined.

The old god is an enemy of Roquetius and craves an end to the hunting of deer in the forest. A character who succeeds at a Good (+3) Rapport roll after stating aims which align with the power's wishes, or who agrees to take an oath, can gain the power's blessing.

Gifts the power can give include hiding the boy from sight while he stays at the stone, a blessing such as *Speed of the Stag*, or a vision giving some of the information on the god Roquetius (page 33) or even on the Bishop of Winchester, who holds another sword, twin to the one held by Nicholas Martel.

ROMSEY ABBEY

Romsey Abbey is a convent, led by an abbess, Maud Simnel, one of the most important women in the area (page 23). Her common background may mean the abbess is more sympathetic than she might otherwise be to the PCs. Access to the convent library means talking to the abbess; if the PCs do not present a good honest reason, they may need to succeed at a Fair (+2) Rapport or similar skill roll.

In the library, give one piece of information about Roquetius for free. Give an extra piece for a Fair (+2) Lore roll, or two on a success with style.

The abbess also knows that the Bishop of Winchester is very interested in the Roquetius myth, but won't think to mention it if the PCs won't tell her what they are doing and make a favourable impression.

FATE: WORLDS OF ADVENTURE

Winchester

The trail leads to Winchester, specifically to the bishop's palace. There are several potential clues which lead here or to the bishop:

- Nicholas Martel knows that his mother was to be taken to the Bishop of Winchester when she was captured.
- The Abbess of Romsey knows of the bishop's interest in the Roquetius story.
- Geoffrey d'Ytane's men will reveal they are working for the Bishop of Winchester if questioned.
- The spirit at the Rufus Stone could reveal that the Bishop of Winchester has a role in the proceedings.

There are two main things of interest in the bishop's palace: a sword of Roquetius, which stands in the bishop's treasury, and the secure rooms beneath the palace, one of which holds Avice Martel as prisoner.

WHERE DID THE SECOND SWORD COME FROM?

The Bishop of Winchester, having interest in the legend, got hold of one of the swords of Roquetius long before his recent acquisition. If players are using sample PCs (page 39), Beatrice Ashe's backstory connects to the sword held by the Bishop of Winchester.

Getting what is needed from the palace is a Good (+3) challenge which requires:

- Getting into the palace
- Sneaking around the palace without being noticed
- Breaking into the secure rooms
- Accessing the treasure room, which contains much gold and coin, along with precious bejewelled church artefacts and the two swords
- Getting out (increase the difficulty to Superb (+5) if carrying multiple treasures)

Three or more failures will bring guards, in the form of Sir Peter Vastal and six of the bishop's guards (page 23). Even a success will bring pursuit, though delayed. The PCs will also learn that Sir Geoffrey d'Ytane is staying as a guest in the palace. Eight of Geoffrey's men are with him.

Despite appearances, the bishop's interest in the swords and Roquetius is not purely villainous, though the same cannot be said of his methods. The bishop doesn't want to seek occult power. He wants to keep the swords which could awaken Roquetius safe in his hands rather than let them fall into the hands of a would-be sorcerer. He'll happily tell the PCs this if confronted.

Beaulieu Heath

Although the bishop isn't interested in gaining power from Roquetius, one could be...Sir Geoffrey d'Ytane. If Baron Baldwin of Corfe has been in a previous scenario, he also knows of the swords, and is interested in getting hold of them and awakening Roquetius. A showdown on Beaulieu Heath might lie in the future.

Roquetius's sacred place on Beaulieu Heath is a hidden barrow known as Colpix Cave, where an ancient king who once channelled the god's power rests with the treasures given to him. He is an old god with a taste for human sacrifice. The god can be roused by placing the swords amongst the other treasure in the barrow, or by taking treasure from the barrow. In the latter case, Roquetius's attention will be in the form of a curse! In the former case, he might bless the one who gives him the swords, or even grant them sorcerous power.

Further Adventure Seeds

The Merchant's Offer

Emma Caradas, the merchant, has been suffering from outlaw attacks, not just stealing but murdering her guards and driver. The attacks aren't coming from the PCs, but from another group—those led by Agnes Rose. Emma sends a cart along a route the PCs are known to watch, but the cart contains no cargo to steal. Emma herself is the driver, and she intends to gain the PCs' attention and ask for their help. She does not think the PCs are behind the attacks, from what she knows of their reputation.

Perhaps negotiation is the key, and Emma Rose and the PCs can come to some sort of arrangement. Or perhaps Agnes Rose will decide the New Forest is not big enough for two outlaw bands.

The Accused

An ally of the PCs stands accused of a crime, and they are being held prisoner in Winchester Castle, awaiting execution. The execution is to be a major public show, the official reason being to discourage similar offenders. The real reason is to set a trap for the outlaws. Of course they are going to mount a rescue attempt, and there are forces waiting for them.

The Hunt

An important dignitary from France is visiting the area, and he intends to go on a hunt. He will be relatively unprotected, and if the PCs dare, they should be able to raise considerable ransom money. A complication is that Agnes Rose has a grudge against that dignitary, having known him when she was a servant in Corfe Castle. She does not intend anything as elegant as a ransom—she intends to kill him. Maybe he deserves it. Maybe he is tied up with sorcery. Or maybe he is purely an innocent party who deserves better.

All the King's Men (Final Adventure)

When the outlaws' threat reaches 12, the next adventure is the last of the campaign. The authorities muster all forces available to suppress the outlaws. PCs can draw upon their support to attempt to escape or still attain their goals, and the more support they have accumulated, the more benefits they gain at this point. Other enemies the heroes have made are also going all out to eliminate them, and the PCs have the chance to face down any nemeses they have accumulated over the campaign.

Begin the adventure as a normal one, mixing opportunity and danger, with the following extra rules:

- The GM can spend threat points as if they were fate points.
- If a PC is taken out, and it is plausible in the conflict, they die or are otherwise removed from play with no hope of redemption.
- The GM can spend two threat points to bring a major NPC enemy into a scene, backed up by an overwhelming number of nameless NPCs. This is a chance for the GM to personalise things, and force the PCs to flee or do something clever, more than an opportunity to get at an enemy, though if they find a clever way to turn things around, that's a bonus.

As a counterpoint to all this doom and gloom, the players can spend their support points as follows:

- Any player can spend support points as if they were fate points, but only to invoke their goal aspect.
- Each player can spend two support points to frame a single scene related to their goal, their escape and survival, aiding a friend or group of friends, or a meeting with a nemesis. This only costs one support point if the PC will be doomed at the end of the scene, regardless of whether they accomplish their goal, aid friends, or defeat a nemesis. (This doesn't include the escape-and-survival option.) A character who escapes and survives leaves the scene and no longer takes part in play. The GM can spend a threat point to change this scene into a challenge or conflict that determines the success or failure of the PC. The PC can be involved by themself, or can spend another support point to have another willing PC present.
- The player of a dead character or a character who escaped and survived can spend a support point to narrate a scene in which other characters carry on with their legacy. This happens in addition to the above scene, and is purely narrative. If a PC dies or is otherwise removed from play before they narrate a scene, they may narrate two scenes in this way; otherwise, a player can just do this once.



Once every player who wants to narrate a scene has done so, and the GM has spent all of their threat points, it's time to bring the campaign to a close. The PCs can spend any remaining support points as follows, moving around the table to give everyone a chance, beginning with the players of dead characters:

- Spend one support point to describe one way the PCs have made a positive difference locally, or spend two points to describe how they have made a difference nationally.
- Spend one support point to describe a new element which shakes up the authorities locally, or two points for a new element which shakes them up nationally. This new element may or may not be directly tied into the PCs, but there should at least be a thematic connection.

These elements can come into play in a future game of Wolf's Head.

FATE: WORLDS OF ADVENTURE



SAMPLE PLAYER CHARACTERS

The characters in this chapter are an example of an outlaw band. They have common enemies in the form of Geoffrey d'Ytane and the Bishop of Winchester. Ironically, it was these enemies who brought them together, when a force of Geoffrey d'Ytane's men captured them one by one on the orders of the Bishop of Winchester who was "sweeping up loose ends."

They formed a plan together and escaped before they were brought before the bishop. They also found, despite coming from different walks of life, that they had much in common.

The band has the aspect SHARED ENEMIES AND SHARED IDEALS.

Beatrice Ashe

You grew up in the forest. Your mother died when you were very young, and you were your father's only child. He taught you how to fight and shoot, how to survive in the forest, how to hunt and stay hidden. He also told you stories, about the old gods who can still be found in the forest, about a time when men and women were free, before the nobles forced them into servitude. Sometimes, the ancient gods have spoken to you.

He had a sword, a family heirloom, an ancient weapon forged in Roman times, he said. But the Bishop of Winchester had heard of this sword, and his man, Geoffrey d'Ytane, accused your father of stealing it. A commoner could not defend himself from a noble, and your father died so that d'Ytane could have the sword.

Still, your father trained you well for the life of an outlaw in the forest. The people can stand no more of such abuse, and you will have your revenge.

Beatrice Ashe

ASPECTS

High Concept: GAMEKEEPER TURNED POACHER Background: I KNOW THE FOREST BETTER THAN I DO MY OWN FACE Wolf's Head: MY FATHER WAS FALSELY ACCUSED OF THEFT AND EXECUTED FOR IT Balief. THE FOREST SHOULD BE FOR US AND NOT INST FOR NORMES

Belief: The Forest Should Be for Us All, Not Just for Nobles **Goal:** Geoffrey d'Ytane Killed My Father—He Must Pay

SKILLS

Great (+4): Stealth Good (+3): Notice, Shoot Fair (+2): Athletics, Deceive, Fight Average (+1): Crafts, Investigate, Physique, Rapport

STUNTS

Opening Volley: During your first turn in a conflict, you get a free action using Shoot, meaning you can both quickly aim (create an advantage) and fire (attack), or shoot twice.

- **Tread Where I Tread:** If someone else is following your directions and spends a fate point, they can use the result of your overcome roll with Stealth instead of their own roll.
- **Spirit Speaker:** You're aware of the presence of old gods and spirits, and can both speak to them and hear them when they are present, even without you making a gift. Further, both you and the old powers feel a connection; you gain +2 to Rapport rolls with the old spirits.

STRESS

Physical **123**

Mental **1**2

CONSEQUENCES Mild (2): Moderate (4):

Severe (6):

REFRESH: 3

Simon Grave

You were always more worldly than most of your fellow clergy, preferring to go out among the ordinary people, eating and drinking with them, rather than being cloistered. You thought this the best way to find those most in need, and at first your church superiors agreed. But you did more than that. You started educating the peasants, even serfs, and not only believed but told them that there was no real difference between them and the nobility, merely that the nobility inherited their status. There is no divine order to the classes, and all men and women should be equal.

This did not go down so well when word got back to your superiors, but you knew you were right and refused to make amends. So the Bishop of Winchester excommunicated you. After much reflection and prayer, you decided you had to fight for your beliefs, and that you could better help the poor against their oppressors than the Church ever could.

Simon Grave

ASPECTS

High Concept: HAPPY CAROUSING FORMER PRIEST

Background: I Prefer the Company of "Ordinary" People to That of Nobles or Priests

Wolf's Head: Excommunicated by the Bishop of Winchester

Belief: The Church Turned Its Back on Me. I Didn't Turn My Back on the People It Should Protect

Goal: One Day the Church Will Accept My Beliefs that All Men and Women Are Equal

SKILLS

Great (+4): Empathy Good (+3): Lore, Rapport Fair (+2): Contacts, Fight, Investigate Average (+1): Physique, Ride, Shoot, Will

STUNTS

Drinking Buddy: When you seek to learn information by carousing, you gain +2 to Investigate.

Nobody Suspects a Man of the Cloth: You gain +2 to Fight for your first attack during a physical conflict.

Read the Room: You can use Empathy instead of Notice to determine your turn order in a conflict, provided you have had a chance to converse with or observe the people involved for a few minutes.

STRESS

Physical **123**

Mental **123**

REFRESH: 3

CONSEQUENCES Mild (2): Moderate (4): Severe (6):

Rosamund Le Tellier

You were a daughter of a minor noble with a manor in Milton. Your mother died when you were very young, and your brother showed no interest in learning how to fight. Perhaps he would have been suited to the Church. But you had the interest and the ability, and your brother's lack of interest meant you got the training, though certainly as a woman you would never serve as a knight.

When your father died, your brother, the son, inherited everything. You'd like to say you were philosophical about it, but you were angry at having nothing, and went on a drunken binge. When you woke up, your brother was dead, and Geoffrey d'Ytane was calling for your arrest. Somehow, d'Ytane had a document granting him your brother's lands should he have no other heir, and your sword was in your brother's body. The document was deeply implausible to anyone who knew the situation, but it still stood; your father had despised Geoffrey d'Ytane as an opportunistic bully. As for the sword, you'd left it at home. You knew better than to take it drinking with you, given the mood you were in.

So you're an outlaw now, and your situation means you're thinking about injustice, not just as it applies to you, but more generally. You've found your calling, and there's more to it than revenge.

Rosamund Le Tellier ASPECTS High Concept: DISGRACED FORMER NOBLE **Background:** I MAY BE A WOMAN, BUT I WAS TRAINED AS A KNIGHT Wolf's Head: Geoffrey D'YTANE KILLED MY BROTHER AND FRAMED ME FOR IT **Belief:** JUSTICE SHOULD BE FOR EVERYONE, NOT JUST THOSE WITH CONNECTIONS Goal: I WILL REDEEM MY GOOD NAME SKILLS Great (+4): Fight Good (+3): Physique, Ride Fair (+2): Contacts, Rapport, Notice Average (+1): Athletics, Lore, Provoke, Shoot STUNTS **Ebb and Flow:** Once per conflict, you can take an extra action to create an advantage with Physique, using your strength, arms, and armour against your opponent. An Honourable Fight: In a one-to-one battle, your attacks with a sword do two extra shifts of harm. Inspirational Speech: If you create an advantage with Rapport by giving an inspirational speech, others get +3 rather than +2 when they invoke the aspect you created. STRESS Physical **1234** Mental **1 2** CONSEQUENCES **REFRESH: 3** Mild (2): Moderate (4):

Severe (6):

Thomas Willoughby

The nobility view the common soldier as disposable, even though they form the bulk of the armies and do all the work. It's the bloody knights everyone remembers. Well, they have the power and write the histories. But you've had enough of it. Enough of killing and dying because of stupid orders. Especially that sadistic shit Geoffrey d'Ytane, with his orders to kill peasants and burn their villages.

When he gave that order, you told him where to stick it. Bastard. If he hadn't had so many bloody fools around him, cheerfully carrying those orders out, you'd have cut him down right then. Well, maybe you'll get your chance in the future.

Thomas Willoughby

ASPECTS

High Concept: Angry Veteran of Too Many Wars
Background: I'm a Soldier, Not a Knight
Wolf's Head: I Didn't Obey Orders to Slaughter Peasants. Yeah, I'm a Real Softie
Belief: No Noble Has the Right to Give Me, or Anyone Else, Commands Just Because of Their Station

Goal: One Day I'll Have Enough Money to Retire in Obscurity from This Life. Maybe I'll Buy a Pub

SKILLS

Great (+4): Provoke Good (+3): Burglary, Fight Fair (+2): Deceive, Shoot, Stealth Average (+1): Athletics, Notice, Physique, Will

STUNTS

- **In Your Face:** You can use Provoke to defend yourself against social attacks others make with Provoke, by shouting right back at them.
- **Charge!:** You gain +2 to Fight in your first attack of a conflict, provided you moved at least one zone to engage the defender.

You Can't Bluff a Bluffer: You can use Deceive rather than Empathy to tell when someone is lying.

STRESS

Physical **123**

Mental **123**

CONSEQUENCES Mild (2): Moderate (4):

Severe (6):

REFRESH: 3